Bloyer et al v. St. Clair County, lllinois et al Doc. 192

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

JOHN R BLOYER, JR,, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

VS. Case Nol4-cv-1119SMY-PMF

ST. CLAIR COUNTY ILLINOIS, et al,

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter comes befotke Court on DefendasiDennis Ballinger, Sr., Dennis
Ballinger, Jr., Empire Tax Corp. and Vista Securities, IncDeféndanty Combined Motion to
Dismiss Pursuant to Rules 9(a) and 12(bj8)c.59). Plainiffs responded (Doc. 92 For the
following reasonsDefendantsmotionis DENIED.

BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Doc. 2) alleges that persons who owned property locatéd in S
Clair County and who redeemed that property at county tax auctions edadty rate in
excess of that which would have been required had they not been forced to participate in a
"rigged tax salé. Specifically, Defendants Dennis Ballinger, Sr., Dennis Ballinger, Jr., Empir
Tax Corp. and Vista Securities, Ifceferred to collectiely in the Complaint as thé&allinger
Defendant®) are alleged to have conspired with co-defendants St. Clair Co. and Suarez to
diminish competitive bidding in order to ensure that lucrative properties weratgbiel
statutory maximum penalty percentage of 18% beginning at least as eadyeasbi¢r 2006.

Plaintiffs further allege thahe Ballinger Defendantenowingly participated in the
conspiracy as tax purchasasfollows: Dennis Ballinger Jr. and Dennis Ballinger Sr. are
alleged to have purchased 222 properties at the 2006 tax sale and Efgsapthe 2007 tax

sale, Empire Tax Corp. is alleged to have purchased 60 properties at the 2006 tax sale and 135
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properties at the 20G@x saleandVista Securities, Inas alleged to have purchased 92
properties at the 2006 tax sale and 133 prasedt the 2007 tax sale all at the conspiratorial
maximum 18% interest ratePlaintiffs claim civil conspiracy against all Defendants (Count I),
money had and received against all Defendants except Suarez (Count II)pnsotditihe
Sherman Act againsll Defendants (Counts 11l and 1V), violations of the lllinois Antitrust Act
against all Defendants (Counts V-VII) and breach of fiduciary duty againstzSi@aent VIIil).

Defendants contend that Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Doc. 2) fails to include thess@ige
factual allegations to support antitrust claims and the existence of a copsjifendants
further contend that all of Plaintiffs’ claims are tibarred and that the fraudulent concealment
claim is insufficient under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

DISCUSSION

When reviewing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the Court accepts as true all
allegations in the complairErickson v. Parduss51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (citirgell Atl. Corp.v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). The federal system of notice pleading requires only that a
plaintiff provide a $hort and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to
relief." Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). Howevehgt allegations must Benore than labels and
conclusions.’Pugh v. Tribune Cp521 F.3d 686, 699 (7th Cir. 2008)his requirement is
satisfied if the complaint (1) describes the claim in sufficient detail to give tbadkeit fair
notice of what the claim is and the grounds upon which it rests and (2) plausibly suragdsis t
plaintiff has a right to relief above a speculative leValombly 550 U.S. at 555%ee Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (200BEOC v. Concentra Health Seryv496 F.3d 773, 776 (7th

Cir. 2007). 'A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that @llow



the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable fostoadnict
alleged Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949 (citinwombly 550 U.S. at 556)-
Statute of Limitations

Defendants argue for dismissal of all counts as barred by the applicdbte sf
limitations. They asserthat antitrust and conspiracy actions must commence within four years
and that a claim for money had and received must commence within five yearsoérina of
the claim. Further, Defendants contend that Plaintiffs have failed to adeclbtgé/goroper
basis for tolling these statutes of limitations.

Plaintiffs acknowledge the statutes of limitations but argue that the discoletyglted
the statute of limitationm this case.ln support of their position, Plaintiffs ci@ark v. City of
Braidwood 318 F.3d 764 (7th Cir. 2003). Glark, the Seventh Circuit held that the question
was"whetheranyset of facts that if proven would establish a defense to the statute of
limitations..'and that where a plaintiff relies on the discovery raldetermination of timeliness
is premature at the pleading stagdark, 318 F.3d at 768 (emphasis in original)

The discovery rule "postpones the beginning of the limitations period... to theluzte w
[a plaintiff] discovers he has been injuredd're Copper Antitrust Litig. 436 F.3d 782, 789 (7th
Cir. 2006), quotingCada v. Baxter Healthcare Cor@20 F.2d 446, 450 (7th Cir.1990).
Therefore, the appropriate inquisywhether the Complaint pleads sufficient facts that, if
proven, would raise a reasonable inference that the limitations period was toll@dishtivhen
Plaintiffs discovered the injury. Accepting all allegations of the Complainuasttre Court

finds they are sufficient to raise such an inference.

! While Defendants entitle their motion "Motion to Dismiss... Pursuant to Rules 9(a) and 12(b)(6)," Defendants'
arguments implicate Rule 9(b), not 9(a). Further, Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not include a claim for fraud or
fraudulent concealment. Plaintiffs raise the issue of fraudulent concealment as a negation to the statute of
limitations defense and in regards to the discovery rule. Therefore, Rule 9 is inapplicable. Accordingly, the Court
declines to consider Defendants’ arguments arising under Rule 9(b).

3



The Complaint alleges that Defendants and tax purchasBe@mdants directed
"contributions"to the Democrat Party instead of to Suarez, that Suarez sea2ef€@wlants at
the front of the auction room to facilitate the conspiracy and that other bids \e&redabn less
lucrative properties in order to cover up the conspiracy. The Complaint furthersatteqg
Defendants’ conspiracy to rig tax auctions was inherentlycesltealing so that Plainfisf could
not have discovered through reasonable diligence that they had been injured until 2014.
Accordingly, Defendants’ motion to dismigdaintiffs’ claims as barred by the applicable
statutes of limitations denied
Civil Conspiracy

Defendants argue Count | should be dismissed because antitrust claims canrestéx ass
as civil conspiracy claims under lllinois law. Plaintiffs respond ihaependent, actionable
tortious conduct is naequiredand that their Complaint alleges unlawful acts sufficient to plead
a claim of civil conspiracy.

Section 9 of the lllinois Antitrust Act provides, "No contract, combination, congpioac
other act which violates this Act shall constitute or be deemed a conspiracygraba law."
740 LCS §10/9. The @mmitteeComment clarifies that the purpose of the provisionids "
confine remedie®r what were formerly common law conspiracies to proceedings under the
new Act, if violative of the new Act, and thus prevent another form of ‘dgabjgardy’ 1d
(emphasis added)The statute is clear that a plaintiff may netoverunder both theories but is
silent as to whether a plaintiff majlegeboth theories.

Defendant citedlichols Motorcycle Supply, Inc. v. Dunlop Tire Cotgo. 93-C-5578,
1994 WL 698486, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 12, 1994) in support of their argument that Section 9 also
prohibitsPlaintiff from alleginga civil conspiracy based upon a purported violation ef th

lllinois Antitrust Act. Thecourt inNicholsdid, in fact,hold that a civil conspiracy claim is



redundant and duplicative of the antitrust claims arising under the same set ahthct
dismissed a conspiracy claim on that basis.
However, the statute does not bar a plaintiff flalssertingclaims under botkheories.
In fact, theCommitteeComment to Section 8lsostates, an injured party might still recover
under the doctrine of a common law conspiracy where the conduct in question did not violate the
new Act' 740 ILCS 810/9. Additionallyplaintiffs may plead alternative legal theoriasd, at
trial, choose which theories of recovery to pursted. R. Civ. P. 8(d). Accordingly,
Defendants’ motion as @Gount lis denied.
"Money Had And Received"
Defendants further argue that Count Il should be dismissed because the Cadiajdaint
to state a claim for money had and receiv8gdecifically Defendants contend that the lllinois
Property Tax Code expressly permits an 18% penalty rate. Because no morel&mn a
penalty was charged, Defendants argue Plaintiffs’ allegations in @daihtto state a claim.
In lllinois, a plaintiff bringing a claim for money had and received must allegée(th
he was compelled to pay money to the defendant, (2) the defendant had no legal righhtb dema
the money, and (3) payment was necessary in order to avoid an injury to his business, person or
property” Butitta v. First Mortgage Corp578 N.E.2d 116, 118-19I( App. 1991). If
allegations demonstrate that the receipt of money is "unjust given the unféizepuander which
it was obtained,"” the claim is sufficient to survive a 12(b)(6) motion to disrRistds v. Alcon
Labs., Inc, No. 313CV00197DRHDGW, 2014 WL 1041191, at *4 (S.D. Illl. Mar. 18, 2014).
Here, Plaintiffs allege illegally rigged tax sales that unfairly ensuredghedt penalties
would be charged. This is sufficient to state a claim for money had and received. Aglgordi

Defendants’ motiois denied as to Count II.



The Sherman Act

Defendants move to dismiss Counts Il and IV for failure to state a claint Sedgons
1 and 2 of the Sherman Admn particular, Defendants assert that Plaintiffs’ claim under Section
1 for unlawful agreement or conspiracy in restraint of trade contains "fundaiypelaficient
allegations. Defendants alsassert a lack of antitrust injuand defined marketnderSection 1
andarguethat the named Plaintiffs lack standingnder Section 2, Defendarassert
"fundamentally deficient allegatiohef monopolypower and exclusionary condwtd lack of
a market definition.

Section 1 of the Sherman Act provides that "[e]very contract, combination in th@form
trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce amorayéhal States, or
with foreign nations, is declared to be ik 15 U.S.C. 8 1. To plead a violation of § 1 of the
Sherman Act, a plaintiff must pleat{l) a contract, combination, or conspiracy; (2) a resultant
unreasonable restraint of trade in [a] relevant market; and (3) an accontpemyiy.” Agnew
v. N&'l Collegiate Athletic Ass’n683 F.3d 328, 335 (7th Cir. 2012) (quotiBgnny's Marina,

Inc. v. Renfro Prods., Inc8 F.3d 1217, 1220 (7th Cir.1993)).

Proof of an explicit agreement is not required to pke&herman Act antitrust conspiracy
claim. United States v. General Motors Cqrp84 U.S. 127, 142-43 (2010Rather, a Section
1 claim of conspiracy "requires a complaint with enough factual matter (takereao suggest
that an agreement was mad&ell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007). Here,
Plaintiffs plead sufficient facts to survive a motion to dismiBse factual allegations include
specific details about the agreement and how sales were structured to eliminaté&ioompet
This is sufficient to plausibly suggest an illegal conspiracy for purposesabion 1 of the

Sherman Act



As to the second requiremen&r-unreasonable restraint of trade in a relevant market
resulting from the conspiracy-Plaintiffs mustallege a cognizable markeh whichDefendants'
actions couldhave had anticompetitive effectdgnew,683 F.3dat 337-338. "RRlevant markét
has been defined by thénited States Supreme Court"aemmodities reasonably
interchangeable by consumers for the same purpobksted States v. E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Co., 351 U.S. 377, 395 (1956Wnless it isnconceivabldhat Plaintiffscould prove a set of
facts supporting the market definition alleg€dunt Il should not be dismissetMCM
Partners, Inc. v. AndrewBartlett & Assoaates, Inc. 62 F.3d 967, 977 (7th Cir. 1998¢versing
a 12(b)(6) dismissal as erroneous where district court "believed [planadfnot alleged facts
to support the complaint’'s market definition™).

Here,Plaintiffs do not provide an explicit definition tfe allegedelevant market
Rather, the Complairailegationgrovide an overview of the lllinois tax sale procedure, an
outline of the situations in which a successful purchaser of property at a taxagatiuble his
initial investment or gain title to property at less than market value and citationditmtie
Property Tax Code regarditige public sale process. Further, the Complaint cites lllinois case
law to support the allegation that the lllinois Property Tax Code "envitdahshe public sale
process will foster competition in bidding, reducing the [penalty rate] pereertageby
enabling property owners to redeem their property for the lowest amount.” Doc. 2,60.12, |
The Complaint further alleges that the auctams "obligated to engage in a ‘reverse auction’
process whereby he solicits and accepts bids to obtain this least penaltyager.téd.

The Court finds that these allegations sufficiently identify the relevarkanhar
Competition is clearly envisned by the Property Tax Code. Plaintiffs’ allegations reasonably

set forth tax lien certificates as products that fall within the defmbf commodity. he



Complaint sufficiently defines the relevant market in terms of its product (taxdréficates)
and its location (St. Clair County).

To meet the third requiremeniedause|tlhe purpose of the Sherman Act is to protect
consumers from injury that rdssifrom diminished competitigh Plaintiffs must alleg@éot only
an injury tothemselvesbut an injury to the market as weAgnew,683 F.3d at 334-35. "Such
injury must involve ‘loss [that] comes from acts that reduce output or raise fwrices
consumers.™James Cape & Sons Co. v. PCC Const, €83 F.3d 396, 399 (7th Cir. 2006)
(quotingChi. Prof'l Sports Ltd. P'ship v. Nat'l Basketball As®61 F.2d 667, 670 (7th
Cir.1992)).

Contrary to Defendants’ contentions, it is not necessary to show that one plaastiff w
injured by the sale of another property owner’s taX&@bat need tobe shown is aolssthat
comes from acts that raise prices to consumilaintiffs’ Complaintallegesan inflated penalty
rate caused by Defendants’ anticompetitive activtg rate that Plaintiffs and hundreds of other
property owners would have been forced to pay in order to redeem their properties. Doc. 2, p.
18, 1 87. These allegations are sufficient to establish injury. Accordinglyndefes’ motion
to dismiss Count Il is denied.

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 2, makes it unlawful for a person or company
to "monopolize" and exclude competition. To prove monopolization under § 2, a plaintiff must
allege:"(1) the possession of monopoly power in the relevant market and (2) the willful . . .
maintenance of that power as distinguished from growth or development as a coosedze
superior product, business acumen, or historical accidemited States v. Grinnell Cor384

U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966). The Supreme Court has defined monopoly power as "the power to

? pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(d), the Court declines to consider Defendants’ standing argument— unsupported by
citations to relevant legal authority.
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control prices or exclude competitidrunited States v. E.l. du Pont de Nemours & G61
U.S. 377, 391 (1956).

A plaintiff may establish monopoly power by evidence that a firm has profitaised
prices above the competitive levélnited States v. Microsoft Cor®253 F.3d 34, 51 (D.C. Cir.
2001). However, possessing monopoly power does nasdly constitué monopolization
Grinnell Corp, 384 U.S. at 570-71. Rather § 2 of the Sherman Act makes it unlawful to
maintain monopoly power through exclusionary condigrizon Commc’ns, Inc. v. Law
Offices of Curtis V. Trinkd_LP, 540 U.S. 398, 407 (2004).

Thetest for exclusionary conduct is set fortHUnited States. v. Microsoft Corpirst, a
plaintiff must prove that a monopolist’s conduct has hadchaticompetitive effect.Microsoft,
253 F.3d at 58. Second, if a plaintiff is successful in showingcoanpetitive effect, the
alleged monopolist may proffer a npretextual’ procompetitive justificatiohfor its conduct.

Id. at 59. Lastly, if the alleged monopolist’s proffering of procompetitive juatiba is
unrebutted, the plaintifftiust demonstrate that the anticompetitive harm of the conduct
outweighs the procompetitive benefild:

Here, the Complaint includes allegations of assigned seating arrangenygate ttax
buyer defendants in the front and purposeful ignoring ofdedandat bidders who were not
part of the illegal agreement. Plaintiftgther allege thatvinning bids that were not a result of
"superior business acumelnlit rather were a result of an illegal agreememlitminate
competitionin bidding for tax liens. The alleged conduct is exclusionary in thhad the effect
of preventing other competitors from receiving the winning bid at the taxsatierss"by
"fixing, controlling, maintaining, limitingand/or discontinuing the bidding of lower rates during
the auction process...." Doc. 2, p. 29, {1 131-13#% alleged arrangement betwddsfendant

Suarez and tapurchaser defendants (including the Ballinger Defendants) prevented ttorapet



bids except on less lucrative properties, which were allowed in order to conceahspiracy.
Based on these allegations, Plaintiffs have sufficiently pled exclusionadycioand monopoly
power to survive a motion to dismisBefendantsmotion as to Count IV islenied
Thelllinois Antitrust Act

Defendants next move to dismRB&intiffs’ state law antitrust claim§ounts V, VI and
VII, on the same basas their federal counterpartsCounts V and VI (antitrust conspiracy
claims) mirrorCount 11l and Count VII (monopolization claim) mirrors Count IMlliriois law
providesthat its courts should use the construction of federadrust law by federal courts to
guide their construatin of those state antitrust laws that are substantially similar to federal
antitrust law! State of Ill., ex rel. Burris v. Panhandle Eastern Pipe Ling €86 F.2d 1469,
1480 (7th Cir. 1991 As such Defendants’ motion as to Counts V, VI and Vitdeniedfor the
reasons set forth in the Court’s analysis undefterman Act

For the above-stated reasons, Defendants’ Motion to Disni¥SNSED in its entirety.

IT ISSO ORDERED.

DATE: April 7, 2016 g _Staci M. Yandle
STACI M. YANDLE
DISTRICT JUDGE
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